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Overview

· This exam bank contains all of my prior Elements Exam Qs I & II that are not separately posted on the course page.  I have placed them in reverse chronological order.  
· Differences from Your Exam Qs:
1. Overall Structure and Timing
· All of these Qs were given as part of an exam that also contained a third question covering material we did not study in 2017.  After a one hour reading period, the students were given 150 minutes (50 minutes per Q) to write their answers. 
· Your exam will only include a three-part Q1 and a Q2.  After a one hour reading period, you will have 150 minutes to write your answers: 30 minutes each for the three partsd of Q1 and 60 minutes for Q2.
2. Q1 Coverage and Instructions
· In prior years, Q1 covered either two or three of the relevant toolboxes (1st Possession, Custom, Escape).  Sometimes the instructions specified which toolboxes to use; often they did not.  Occasionally Q1 was explicitly divided into sub-questions; usually it was not.

· Your Q1 will be divided into three Sub-Questions, each explicitly covering one of the three too;boxes.

3. Nature of the Fact Pattern & My Expectations:  Over time, I have refined how I teach and test the relevant skills.  Thus the more recent Qs (along with the corresponding comments and model answers) are the best guide to what I will give you and what I will expect. 
· To Do Questions in This BankUnder Exam Conditions:
1. For a Question I or Question II Alone: 
· 20 minute reading period (read, take notes & outline)
· 50 minutes to write your answer
2. For a set of Question I and Question II together: 
· 40 minute reading period (read, take notes & outline)
· 100 minutes (one hour & 40 minutes) to write your answer
3. You will have trouble answering a Question II unless you have worked through the accompanying Question I first.
2015 Exam Questions 1 & 2

2015 QUESTION 1
For Question I, you must answer both of the Sub-Questions listed below, each of which is based on the Fact Pattern for Questions I & II (which begins on the next page). 

· Write the response to each Sub-Question separately.  
· You need not start a new page or a new bluebook for each Sub-Question, but you should clearly indicate in your answer where your response to each Sub-Question begins. 

· The two Sub-Questions will be weighted roughly equally; allot your time accordingly.  (An exact division of the time would give you about 25 minutes per Sub-Question.)

Sub-Question (a): Using the custom analysis found in the Animals Cases, discuss whether, in resolving the dispute between Jordan and Tuzak over ownership of U-2, a court should apply the “Coded Canvas Custom” as binding law. (Assume the Custom would not apply to the dispute over V-8.)

Sub-Question (b): Assuming the “Coded Canvas Custom” is not legally binding, discuss whether, under the Escaping Animals Cases, Jordan should retain ownership of Sea Oil Pools U-2 and V-8.  Assume that Tuzak does not dispute that Jordan is the original owner of the two Pools because they were originally within its territorial zone and that Jordan does not dispute that the Pools “escaped” its immediate control when its territorial zone shrank due to rising ocean levels. 
2015 QUESTION 2
Assuming the “Coded Canvas Custom” is not legally binding, discuss whether the Escaping Animals Cases constitute a good set of tools for resolving disputes like the one between Jordan and Tuzak over ownership of Sea Oil Pools that were discovered within an island’s territorial zone but that later are outside that zone because of rising ocean levels.
FACT PATTERN FOR 2015 QUESTIONS I & II

The current year in this Fact Pattern is 2700.


Danjo was one of many planets colonized by American spacefarers in the 25th Century.  Danjo is like Earth in having an atmosphere breathable by humans and having most of its surface covered by oceans.  However, when humans arrived, Danjo was much colder than Earth (on average) with large polar ice caps. Also unlike Earth, it has no large continents.  Instead the land consists of islands in large clusters with lots of open ocean between clusters.  The islands vary greatly in size, but many are large enough to support human communities, and a few are as large as Cuba or Ireland.


Danjo has no accessible deposits of metals, so it was settled by colonists who wanted a relatively simple life. Most metal products need to be imported from other planets, so Danjo remains a very low-tech world. For example, there are no satellites, which means no GPS and very limited TV and Internet.  The colonists mostly make do with mid-Twentieth Century technology like localized radio transmissions often hindered by weather.


During the 250 years humans have lived on Danjo, they developed a political system where each inhabited island operates as a separate state, locally exercising most forms of governmental authority.  Each island sends a representative to a planet-wide legislature with limited authority.  There is a planet-wide judicial system based on U.S. law.  One of the few planet-wide rules is that each island has a territorial zone extending one kilometer out from its high tide lines in all directions.  Each island is treated as the owner of its territorial zone.  The colonists treat as unowned the open ocean and the ocean floor outside the territorial zones.


An important natural resource on Danjo is a petroleum-like liquid known as Sea Oil that can be burned as fuel. Like crude oil and natural gas on earth, Sea Oil is found in underground Pools that colonists can access through the shallower parts of the oceans. However, Sea Oil Pools seem to be teardrop shaped with only the very small area at the top of the Pool accessible from the ocean floor. Thus, only one drilling rig can be used to extract Sea Oil from a particular Pool and the access points for the Pools are always at least 100 meters apart.


2015 Fact Pattern Continues on Next Page

Island governments face some difficulties in locating and extracting Sea Oil.  First, the Pools are not distributed evenly, so some islands have a lot of them within their territorial zone and some islands have few or none.  The islands without many Pools must compete for access to Pools found in the unowned parts of the ocean floor. Second, scientists have been unable to determine the origin of Sea Oil or to understand how the Pools are created, so “Prospectors” for Sea Oil simply drill narrow holes in the ocean floor in places they select by intuition or at random.  If they find a Pool, they try to arrange for a full drilling rig to come extract the Sea Oil.  Third, because of the lack of metal on Danjo, drilling rigs are expensive, so few islands can afford very many.  Thus, discovered Pools often remain undrilled for an extended period of time. 


From the earliest days of Sea Oil Prospecting, when an island Prospector found a Pool in the island’s territorial zone (where no other island could claim it), the Prospector would place a large circle of brightly colored canvas over the access point, holding the canvas in place with heavy rocks.  These circles were easy for divers to see from near the surface and the canvas usually would last for years, so the Pool could be found again whenever the island was ready to drill. 


Over time, Prospectors also began using the canvas circles to mark Pools they found in unowned parts of the ocean floor.  Eventually, each island marked the Pools it claimed with canvas circles colored with a pattern unique to that island. In some island clusters, a custom developed that placement of a patterned canvas circle in unowned parts of the ocean created property rights in the Pool underneath for the island that placed it (the “Coded Canvas Custom”).  The custom rewards islands best able to locate Pools. In a cluster known as Bretz (which includes an island called Jordan), by 2700, all the islands had employed the custom for more than a century.

In other clusters, the islands decided not to employ the custom and so they had to put a drilling rig in place to get property rights to Pools in the unowned ocean.  This system rewards islands best able to set up rigs quickly.  The cluster closest to Bretz is known as Loruz.  The islands in Loruz (including an island called Tuzak) do not employ the custom.

2015 Fact Pattern Continues on Next Page

Jordan is lucky enough to have many Sea Oil Pools in its territorial zone, so it has never needed to send Prospectors into the open ocean. Because Jordan is not a wealthy island, many of its Pools remain undrilled for years after they are discovered.  In particular, in about the year 2640 it located two pools (which it calls U-2 and V-8). At the time these Pools were within Jordan’s territorial zone, but close to its outer edge. By 2700, these Pools had sat under their respective canvas circles for over 60 years without being drilled. 

Since shortly after humans colonized Danjo, the planetary government has been releasing various combinations of chemicals into the atmosphere to try to make the climate warmer. For some reason, in the year 2690 they suddenly succeeded in raising the average temperature by several degrees.  During the next ten years, a substantial portion of the polar ice caps melted and by 2700, ocean levels had risen about 13 feet.  

As a result of the rising oceans, each island lost a different amount of land area (depending on its topography) and every island saw its territorial zone shrink accordingly. As a result, the Pools designated U-2 and V-8 were now more than one kilometer from Jordan’s high tide line. The warmer temperatures also led to some severe storms. In one of these storms, the canvas circle covering V-8 broke loose and was carried away by the ocean.


Tuzak has never found Sea Oil Pools within its territorial waters.  However, it is a relatively wealthy island and is able to send out some ships with drilling rigs on board to prospect for Sea Oil in the open ocean.  Late in 2700, a storm drove one of these ships way off course and it ended up in Bretz near the coast of Jordan. The Tuzak Prospectors saw the canvas circle covering U-2 but thought it probably had been abandoned by whoever found it because the circle looked so old.  Using available surveying techniques, the Prospectors determined that they were more than a kilometer from Jordan, and immediately set up a drilling rig for U-2.  They also tested for other Pools in the area.  In the process, they found the Pool that Jordan had called V-8, but saw no sign that anyone else had found that Pool before. They then set up a drilling rig for V-8.  Jordan had accurate records of its prior discovery of those two Pools and brought a lawsuit to stop Tuzak from extracting Sea Oil from them. 
2009 EXAM Q1 & 2: FACT PATTERN 

About.com defines Folklore as “The traditional beliefs, practices, customs, stories, jokes, songs (etc.) of a people, handed down orally or behaviorally from individual to individual.”   Modern writers often “borrow” extensively from folklore.  Many writers utilize and honor the oral traditions of their own ethnic or tribal backgrounds.  More controversially, some writers use other peoples’ folklore as the basis for their work.  Frequently, members of ethnic and tribal groups complain that outsiders’ works derived from their folklore misrepresent their beliefs and paint the group in an unfavorable light.  These concerns seem to arise most frequently in the context of movies; there is a long unfortunate tradition in Hollywood of reducing ethnic and tribal traditions to unflattering stereotypes.  During the 1970s, major Hollywood studios faced numerous complaints and protests about their use of folklore in movies.  

In 1979, after extensive negotiations with representatives of some ethnic and tribal groups, the leading movie studios announced the development of Uniform Folklore Protection Policies (UFPPs).  Subsequently, whenever a major movie studio began production of a film that incorporated folklore of a particular tribal or ethnic group, it published a UFPP committing the studio (i) to portray the group’s stories and customs accurately without stereotyping; and (ii) to consult with experts or members of the group to ensure authenticity.  The regular use of UFPPs has resulted in more favorable publicity and fewer disruptive protests.  

However, developing expertise and ensuring authenticity is not cheap. To enable movie studios to reap additional returns on their investments in protecting folklore, a custom quickly developed in the movie industry:  Once a studio publishes a UFPP with regard to the folklore of a particular ethnic or tribal group, that studio gets exclusive rights to make films incorporating that group’s folklore, so long as it adheres to the terms of the UFPP.  Despite objections to the custom from some tribal and ethnic groups, American movie studios uniformly have adhered to it since the early 1980s.
2009 Fact Pattern  continues on the next page.

Across the world in the South Pacific, the Olsenjayna tribe have lived for almost 3000 years on a cluster of adjoining islands that today are part of the Solomon Islands.  The tribe has always been ruled by a small group of elders called “Nizios.”  The Nizios are selected as adolescents and spend most of their lives training for their eventual leadership roles, learning religious laws and rituals, herb-lore and other traditional forms of medicine, and dozens of instructive stories involving the animals of the islands (each of which is traditionally portrayed with a distinctive colorful personality).  Two of the Nizios’ most popular stories are called Wager and Deal.  

Every year, the Nizios choose exactly three stories that they consider particularly relevant, and then perform one of them for the tribe at each of three major holidays.  The Nizios carefully control access to these stories.  They do not allow them to be written down and do not permit outsiders to view them.  Moreover, some of the stories do not get performed for decades, so even the other members of the tribe are unlikely to know all of them.


Until World War Two (when Japanese and then American soldiers briefly occupied their islands) the Olsenjayna had almost no contact with people besides other Solomon Islanders.  In 1945, Anthony Aybar, a  UCLA anthropology student, asked to live with and study the tribe.  Scared by their brief experience of war and hoping to learn about the modern world from Aybar, the Nizios agreed.  Aybar lived with the tribe for seven years and was so helpful and so popular that the Nizios allowed him to witness a performance of Wager.
  Aybar swore he would never repeat the story to anyone else, but he wrote a detailed account of Wager in his private diary.  
Recently the Nizios decided that Bran-Dan, the most promising of the young people training to become a Nizio, needed to learn modern medicine.  With Aybar’s help, Bran-Dan was admitted to UCLA.  After a few terms struggling with biology and chemistry, Bran-Dan found that his training in story-telling and performance was much more relevant to classes in the Film School.  Without telling the Nizios, Bran-Dan switched his major and got an internship with Farabucci Filmmakers.  

2009 Fact Pattern continues on the next page.

  One day, Bran-Dan overheard one of the Farabucci producers talking about a possible animated film called Songs of the Solomons involving folklore of the Solomon Islands.  Knowing he was breaking tribal rules, but anxious to get ahead in Hollywood, Bran-Dan sought out the producer and performed a rough version of Deal
 for her.  Delighted, she asked him to join the writing team for Songs of the Solomons and to put a version of Deal into the screenplay.  

The producer drafted a UFPP regarding Olsenjayna folklore and held a press conference to announce the UFPP and the start of production of Songs of the Solomons.  A few days later, Anthony Aybar died, leaving a will stating that his private Solomon Islands diary should be destroyed at his death.  Aybar’s widow had just heard about the new movie, so she decided that, before destroying Aybar’s private diary, she would make a copy and sell it to Farabucci.  The producer read it, loved the description of Wager, and immediately decided to add it to the script.  

A few days later, one of the Nizios came to Los Angeles to attend a memorial service for Aybar and to pay a surprise visit to Bran-Dan.  To their mutual horror, the Nizio walked in on Bran-Dan as he was working on the screen versions of Deal and Wager.  The Nizio then met with the producer of Songs of the Solomons to demand that Farabucci keep Deal and Wager out of the movie, noting that neither Bran-Dan nor Aybar’s widow were authorized by the tribe to pass on the stories.  The producer refused to comply with the Nizio’s demands, arguing that because she had published the UFPP and was acting in compliance with it (which was true), Farabucci was entitled to use any of the tribe’s folklore that it desired.

The 2009 Questions are on the next page.

2009 QUESTION 1
Based on this Fact Pattern, discuss whether, if the animals cases are the relevant authority, the Olsenjayna tribe retains sufficient property rights in either or both of the stories Deal and Wager to prevent Farabucci Filmmakers from including those stories in its movie Songs of the Solomons.

Assume that the stories at issue are too old to receive copyright protection and that no relevant treaties or statutes govern property in stories originating in tribal folklore.

2009 QUESTION 2
Discuss whether the animals cases should be used to resolve disputes between tribes/ethnic groups and outside artists about property rights to stories originating in tribal/ethnic folklore. 
2008 Exam Q1 & Q2: FACT PATTERN 
 “Boot Up and Smell the Coffee”

In 2020, famous British inventor Davis Oglesby Gray developed a device that could produce different odors based on digital instructions (DIs) it could receive from a CD or from the Internet.  Known as the “Bloodhound” (because Gray said it could “track any smell”), it operated by sending electronic stimuli to replaceable cartridges containing several dozen scented oils.  Each DI triggered the release of a particular combination of these oils in specific proportions, so the Bloodhound was capable of creating an almost infinite number of different odors, including some that were virtually indistinguishable from natural smells. The Bloodhound, which came pre-programmed with DIs for five smells (Strawberry, Jasmine, Lilac, Pine, and Popcorn), proved extremely popular. Davis Oglesby Gray sold the rights to produce the device and the cartridges for several million pounds and retired to the Canary Islands.
During the 2020s, several firms with ties to the computer industry began creating and marketing DIs. These firms each set up websites from which Bloodhound owners could download DIs for the particular smells they wanted. Although some firms marketed original fragrances, the public was most interested in recreating familiar smells.  Thus, two of the firms producing the most popular DIs were “Ordinary Odors” (OO), which specialized in food smells, and “Common Scents” (CS), which specialized in flowers and other aromatic plants.

Copyright and patent laws have never protected odors or smells of any kind, not even those that require considerable investment in research and development like expensive perfumes. Moreover, courts quickly decided that DIs themselves, little more than lists of simple commands to the machines, did not include enough original work  to merit copyright or patent protection.   

As a result, the firms that created DIs soon developed a custom giving exclusive rights to a well-known scent to the first firm to post a workable version of it on the internet.  Others in the industry then would not try to copy that scent or to come up with their own version of it.  Thus, when OO was the first to post “Chocolate Chip Cookie” and CS was first to post “Gardenia,” their competitors did not try to produce or market those scents.

2008 Fact Pattern continues on the next page.

By the late 2020s, DIs for thousands of different smells were sold online.   Of the aromas that were not yet available, the one that consumers most frequently requested was Coffee, which had proved surprisingly difficult to reproduce with the Bloodhound.  Both OO and CS had large research teams working for years trying to produce DIs for Coffee. 

In January 2030, the OO team finally came up with a Coffee formula they liked and began testing the DIs with focus groups.  On July 15, 2030, satisfied that consumers liked its formula, OO held a press conference announcing that it was going to begin selling DIs for Coffee.  However, because of a computer virus that severely interfered with the OO internal network, the firm did not have the DIs for Coffee available on its website until July 23.  

In February 2030, CS had arrived at and began testing its own Coffee formula, which utilized a combination of scented oils very different from the OO formula.  It finished testing the formula on July 19.  Aware of what was happening at OO, the CS technical staff worked around the clock and was able to make its own Coffee DIs available online on July 22.  

Both firms claimed to have produced the first workable version of Coffee.  Reviewers and bloggers largely agreed that the two versions smelled a little bit different, but split about evenly as to which they preferred.  Everyone agreed that both versions clearly smelled like good coffee.  

Meanwhile, Davis Oglesby Gray had been working by himself at home developing the first DIs that would allow the Bloodhound to produce multiple overlapping smells at the same time.  In August 2030, he purchased the OO Coffee DI online and liked it a lot. Because of his understanding of the Bloodhound and his extraordinary sense of smell, Gray was able to figure out the component scents in OO’s formula.  He thus could recreate the programming for the OO Coffee DI almost perfectly.  

In October 2030, Gray announced that he was coming out of retirement to start a company called “Fab Fragrances” (FF) to sell his new multi-scent DIs.  The most popular of the new DIs produced by FF was “Sunday Morning,” which included the smells of bacon, eggs and cinnamon rolls, a hint the odor of fresh newsprint, and, of course, the OO formula for Coffee.

2008 Questions I and II are located on the next page.

2008 QUESTION 1:  Assuming that the animals line of cases we have read applies to this fact pattern, discuss how you might resolve the following two disputes (weighted roughly equally).
(Dispute A) Should the property rights to DIs for Coffee belong to Ordinary Odors or to Common Scents? Assume, for the purposes of your discussion of this dispute in Question I, that these rights would cover any formula for coffee and could be held either by OO or by CS but not by both. 

(Dispute B) Should Ordinary Odors be able to stop Fab Fragrances from using OO’s Coffee formula in its “Sunday Morning” DIs without OO’s permission?  Assume, for the purposes of your discussion of this dispute in Question I, that OO initially owns the property rights to DIs for Coffee. 

2008 QUESTION 2: Discuss whether the animals line of cases should apply to resolve disputes over property rights to DIs for smells.
2006 Exam Q1 & Q2: FACT PATTERN
About three thousand years ago, a tribe of semi-nomadic people settled in the humid valleys of what today is the developing nation of Ostramelia.  The tribe is known to anthropologists as the Reed Weavers because of the large woven mats that they used to cover the muddy floors of their dwellings.  In the valleys, the Reed Weavers found shiny green stones, which they carved into unique small sculptures of creatures that appear part-human and part-animal.  Known as the Green Godlings, the sculptures are thought to be embodiments of the many deities that the Reed Weavers worshipped.  

About 400 B.C., the Reed Weavers suddenly died out, apparently leaving no descendants. The only sites where Green Godlings and other Reed Weaver artifacts have ever been found are in Ostramelia.  Although a few artifacts from these sites are in various museums in Europe, Asia, and North America, most remain in Ostramelia in one of two museums owned and operated by the government:  the Caragallo Cultural Center (CCC) in the capital city of Caragallo and the Marcuduak University Museum (MUM) at the other end of the country.

In 1995, the nation’s military leaders overthrew the democratically-elected government of Ostramelia, but were themselves almost immediately attacked by other armed groups.  For the next ten years, Ostramelia was in a state of civil war involving a number of factions, none of which ever had control of more than about a third of the country.  The most important factions were (1) the military; (2) leftist guerrillas; and (3) Abraham’s Heirs (AH), a militant religious sect committed to literal adherence to the Old Testament.  In accordance with their interpretation of the Second Commandment, members of AH destroy objects holy to other religious groups that they consider to be “graven images.” AH has declared that they would destroy any Green Godlings they were able to acquire.

Also in 1995, representatives of important North American and European art museums met to share concerns about the actual and potential loss of priceless art and artifacts to civil war, terrorist attacks, and religious extremists.  They formed the World Art Treasure Security Operations Network (WATSON), an organization designed to (i) identify important artwork and artifacts that are “endangered by local political and social conditions,” (ii) send in teams of qualified professionals to “rescue” them, and (iii) find them “safer homes” in one or more of the museums that are contributing members of WATSON.

2006 Fact Pattern continues on the next page.

Early in 2002, WATSON identified the Reed Weaver artifacts in Ostramelia as endangered.  Both museums housing them had been closed for several years. No faction held control of Caragallo. Looting was widespread in the city and fighting between leftist guerillas and the military had partly or completely destroyed many buildings in the neighborhood of CCC.  The military did have fairly effective control of the area around Marcuduak University, but  squadrons of AH troops were gathering nearby. A spokesman for AH said that one of the group’s goals was to capture MUM and “cleanse it of graven images.”  

During the spring of 2002, WATSON sent two teams into Ostramelia and successfully removed almost all the Reed Weaver artifacts from both CCC and MUM.  The teams did not damage any of the artifacts, but one team member was killed and four were wounded in Caragallo when they got caught in a local gun battle.  Two weeks after these missions were completed, the CCC was destroyed in a fire caused by a grenade explosion.  However, AH never was able to mount a serious attack on the area around the University. The military remained in control of that area for the remainder of the civil war and MUM survived intact.

During 2005, aided by foreign arms and money, the military effectively destroyed the leftist guerillas. They then reached an agreement with AH promising religious freedom to its members and some participation in the government to its leaders.  As a result, the military regained effective control of the whole country by the end of 2005 and was able to spend 2006 consolidating power and beginning the long process of rebuilding Ostramelia. In the last few weeks, international observers have expressed confidence that the military government, supported by AH, is stable and secure.  Last week, the Ostramelian Cultural Minister publicly requested that the museums that are housing the Reed Weaver artifacts return them to Ostramelia.  The museums refused.

2006 QUESTION 1:  Assuming that the animals line of cases we have read applies to this fact pattern, discuss whether the museums must return any of the Reed Weaver artifacts to Ostramelia.  Assume no customs, treaties, or  principles of International Law govern this situation.  

2006 QUESTION 2: Discuss whether the animals line of cases should apply to  determine property rights in art and artifacts that are removed from their nation of origin in a good faith attempt to preserve them.  
2005 EXAM Q1 & Q2: ACT PATTERN 

An unavoidable by-product of barbershops and salons the world over is mounds of hair-clippings. Most of these clippings end up being discarded, but wigmakers are always willing to pay good money for strands of human hair at least six inches long. In the United States, it is the custom that barbers and hairdressers save the longer strands of hair, sell them to wigmakers, and keep the resulting payments themselves.

In celebrity-obsessed Los Angeles, the most trendy salons get a special bonus on those rare occasions when a female star decides to seriously shorten her hairstyle. The resulting clippings can be sold at very high prices to wigmakers who have wealthy clients ready to pay a small fortune for the exclusive right to wigs made from celebrity hair. Some salons, including Hank-of-Hollywood, get explicit permission from the celebrities before selling their hair clippings. Others, including Shade & Shear, don't.

Scientists at Berman-Adams Genetic Laboratories (BAGL) recently developed and patented a process that allows them to take DNA from a single human hair and use it to grow more hair that is essentially identical in texture and color to the original hair. BAGL then began acquiring hair clippings of celebrities from their hairdressers, growing identical hair, and making it into wigs, which were marketed as "Celebrity Locks". BAGL's advertising accurately explained the process used to make the wigs and noted that they were not endorsed by the celebrities in question.

The wigs sold rapidly as many consumers rushed to try having "superstar hair." Two of the best-selling lines of wigs used hair grown from the DNA of Sable, a supermodel widely known for her lustrous wavy long dark hair, and the DNA of Carla "Cream" Cheezz, an alternative rock star with memorable platinum blonde curls. BAGL acquired Sable's hair by buying it from Hank-of-Hollywood at the market price for wig-length celebrity hair. BAGL acquired Cream's hair by having an employee wait outside Shade & Shear and recover some curls that had been swept out the back door of the salon into the parking lot.

Both Sable and Cream asked BAGL to stop manufacturing wigs made from their DNA, but BAGL refused.
2005 Q1 & Q2 on Next Page

2005 QUESTION 1:  Assuming that the animals line of cases we have read applies to this fact pattern, discuss whether Sable and/or Cream has a sufficient property right in her DNA to prevent BAGL from using it to manufacture wigs. Assume that BAGL is not violating any right the women may have to control the use of their names and likenesses.
2005 QUESTION 2: Discuss whether the animals line of cases should apply to the determination of property rights in products created from the DNA of particular human beings.

2003 EXAM Q1 & Q2: FACT PATTERN

Viruses are microscopic living creatures that do not have cells, so that they are “able to function and reproduce only if they can invade a living cell to use the cell's system to replicate themselves.”
  If an individual virus is deposited in a compatible cell of a living animal, it can reproduce and spread widely through the animal’s body.  Thus, to say a person “has” a particular virus, usually means that many viruses of that type are present in the person’s body.


In 1990, Acme Biotechnology Company (ABC) was doing experimentation on some South American monkeys and discovered that some of them were carrying a previously unknown virus that had the effect of preventing their bodies from metabolizing fat, meaning that any fat ingested would simply pass through the digestive system unaltered and completely leave the body without any traces remaining behind.  After discovering that it had the same effect when introduced into the bloodstream of humans, ABC scientists christened it the Twiggy Virus (after the slender 1960’s supermodel).


The U.S. Government approved the Twiggy Virus for commercial use in 2002, after intense testing by ABC demonstrated the following:

· ABC could allow the virus to reproduce in a variety of lab animals to create a supply for use in humans.

· Once injected into humans, the virus would reproduce itself in the human body for four months and then die out completely.

· During the four month period, the person in question would stop metabolizing fat.  Overweight people infected with the virus lost an average of 32 pounds in the four month infection period.

· After the four month period, the person’s body began metabolizing fat as it had before and no side effects of any sort resulted.

· A person carrying the virus can pass it to others through exchange of bodily fluids in the same way as the HIV virus and with about the same rate of transmission. 
2003 Fact Pattern Continues on Next Page

· Because some fat is necessary to human health, the virus would be dangerous to a person with a very low percentage of body fat at the time they were infected.

Early in 2002, ABC began commercial sales of the Twiggy Virus at clinics it operated directly, charging $1200 for the necessary injection.  It required people who purchased the injection to sign a “non-transfer agreement,” promising not to intentionally allow the transfer of viruses from their body to that of another human being “by any means.”  Despite the high price and the non-transfer agreement, the injections were very popular.

In May 2003, Kerry Karrier, president of General Health Inc. (GHI), started losing weight rapidly.  She discovered that she had been infected with the Twiggy Virus during unprotected sex.  Quick to see the commercial implications, Karrier had doctors working for GHI extract some of the virus from her body and use it to infect lab animals.  In September, GHI began selling the virus commercially for $900, requiring purchasers to sign a non-transfer agreement identical to the one used by ABC.


Last month, Sharon Shady paid several of her friends, all of whom who had been infected by GHI, to allow her to extract some of the virus from their bodies.  Sharon opened Discount-End-Fat (DEF) and began selling injections for $125 each.  


Lawsuits followed.  ABC claims it owns all of the Twiggy Virus, regardless of how it was acquired, and wants to enjoin DEF and GHI from selling it.  GHI claims it lawfully acquired the virus, and is entitled to use any samples derived from Karrier’s infection, but also wants to enjoin DEF.  

2003 QUESTION 1: Assuming that the animals line of cases we have read applies to this fact pattern, discuss whether either ABC or GHI has sufficient property rights in the Twiggy Virus to succeed in getting the desired injunctions.  Assume that no existing patent, copyright or similar laws protect interests in viruses. Assume that the non-transfer contracts only provide remedies against the individuals who breach them and do not give rise to any cause of action against sale of the virus by DEF or GHI.

2003 QUESTION 2: Discuss whether the animals line of cases should apply to the determination of property rights in commercially useful viruses. 
2001 Exam Q1 & Q2: FACT PATTERN
Although this fact pattern deals with professional baseball, it does not require any knowledge of baseball except the following:

(1) Baseball is a game in which players try to hit balls with a stick as far as they can.

(2) When a player hits a ball so far that it goes beyond the playing area in a more or less forward direction, it is called hitting a “home run,” which is a very good thing.

(3) A “baseball glove” is a padded leather glove designed so that players can catch baseballs hit with a stick by other players. The glove is large enough so that, if you catch a baseball in it, the baseball tends to stay enclosed in the glove

Although this fact pattern was inspired by the events surrounding a record-breaking home run earlier this year, the facts below are completely made up.  Thus, you need to rely entirely on the these facts and ignore anything you might know about events that took place in the so-called “real world.”


Every professional baseball team allows people attending a baseball game to keep baseballs that are hit into the stands (the fans’ seating area) by the players.  On average, about 25 baseballs per game go into the stands.  Baseballs are not perfectly round and often arrive in the stands moving quite fast.  They are hard to catch and can bounce unpredictably if nobody catches them.  In addition, serious baseball fans attending games often scramble and scuffle in attempts to acquire the baseballs.  Thus, it is sometimes difficult for security guards at the game to figure out which of several people trying to get the baseball has the best claim. As a result, professional baseball teams have developed a custom of letting the person keep the baseball who first has sufficient control over the ball to hold it up in one hand over his or her head.


Last season, Sammy Stocks, a star player for the Dallas Demons, set a record for most home runs hit during a single season at a game in Dallas in early October.  Experts on sports memorabilia estimated the value of the baseball he hit to break the record to be about $250,000.

2001 Fact Pattern Continues on Next Page


Because of the impending home run record, there were extra TV cameras at the game. They were able to film the path of the baseball in the stands in a way that would not have been possible at most professional games.  Replayed in slow motion, the film revealed the following sequence of events:


Matthew was wearing a baseball glove at the game to help him catch any baseballs hit toward him.  The ball landed in Matthew’s glove and he held on to it for about one second.  As he was reaching for the baseball with his other hand in order to hold it up over his head, he was accidentally hit in the arm by another fan reaching for the ball.  The baseball flew out of his glove, bounced off a railing, and landed in an open knapsack sitting on a seat 18 feet away from Matthew.  The knapsack belonged to Chris, who unfortunately was standing in line to get a drink when Stocks hit the home run.  The baseball went about eight inches deep into the knapsack.  Fourteen-year old Amanda, sitting in the adjacent seat, quickly reached inside the knapsack and took out the baseball. She then held it up over her head.

Matthew immediately claimed the baseball, but, pursuant to the custom, the security guards treated Amanda as the owner.  After seeing the slow motion film of the events on TV, Chris also claimed the baseball. 

2001 QUESTION 1:  Assuming that the animals line of cases we have read applies to this fact pattern, discuss whether Matthew, Chris or Amanda is entitled to the baseball.

2001 QUESTION 2:  Discuss whether the animals line of cases should apply to the determination of property rights in baseballs hit into the stands at professional baseball games.

2000 EXAM Q1 & Q2: FACT PATTERN
Faye Fetterman is a stand-up comic who hosts a popular late night talk show that airs on a major television network. The custom among professional stand-up comics is that it is acceptable to use other comics’ jokes without attribution so long as you don’t steal entire routines.

Oscar Ortiz is a political pundit who writes a column that is regularly published under his name in more than 75 newspapers across the U.S.  In a recent column on the Presidential election, Oscar included the following joke that he had made up:

Q: How many Florida voters does it take to change a light bulb?

A: I don’t know.  They’re not done counting yet.

The same day Oscar’s column containing the joke appeared in print, one of Faye’s staff writers showed her the column and they decided that Faye would use the joke in that evening’s opening monologue.  The joke got a huge laugh from Faye’s studio audience.  As a result, she used the punch line of the joke repeatedly in ad libs during the rest of the show responding to questions like, “How many husbands has Elizabeth Taylor had?,” “How many inches of snow fell in Buffalo last week?,”  and “How many Congressmen have flown to Florida to give press conferences?”  These jokes went over so well that Faye began regularly inserting them into her routines.

Within a few weeks, the punch line of the joke became a commonly used phrase all across the country in the tradition of “Where’s the beef?” and “I’ve fallen and I can’t get up.”  Faye and the producers of her show began marketing t-shirts imprinted with Faye’s picture and the punch line of the joke and the public proceeded to buy tens of thousands of them.

When he first started hearing the punch line of the joke used by members of the public, Oscar assumed that they had read it in his column.  However, some friends told him about Faye’s use of the joke and showed him one of the t-shirts.  Oscar immediately contacted the producers of Faye’s show and requested a share of the revenue from the t-shirts, but they refused to negotiate with him.

2000 Exam Q1 & Q2  on Next Page

2000 QUESTION 1:  Assuming that the animals line of cases we have read applies to this fact pattern, discuss whether Oscar has sufficient property rights in the joke that he is entitled to some or all of the proceeds from the t-shirts. Assume that neither copyright nor trademark laws (nor any other statutes or caselaw) govern the allocation of property rights in jokes in a way that would be relevant to this problem.

2000 QUESTION 2:  Discuss whether the animals line of cases should apply to the allocation of property rights in jokes in situations similar to the one in this fact pattern.

1998 EXAM Q1 & Q2: FACT PATTERN 


The Orenabele are a Native American Tribe who once lived throughout the Southwestern United States. The Orenabele are divided into several clans, each of which has a particular symbol that has religious significance for the Tribe. Today, the survivors live on a few reservations.  Their primary source of income is the sale of multicolored blankets woven by Orenabele tribeswomen.  By tradition, in the center of each blanket, the weaver places the symbol for her clan in a large circle.  The woven form of each symbol incorporates unique stitching and dyes that are closely kept secrets of the women of the clan.  By tradition, a tribeswoman may not reveal the secrets of the weaving of her clan’s symbol to anyone outside the clan nor may she weave another clan’s symbol into her blankets.  The Orenabele also monitor nearby crafts stores and have been successful in persuading local artists not to use the clan symbols in their work.


Michelle is a professional weaver who lives about 100 miles from the nearest Orenabele reservation.  One day, her friend Scott, a photographer, showed her some pictures the Orenabele had commissioned him to take to illustrate the advertising flyers the Tribe uses to attract tourists.  Several of the pictures showed Orenabele blankets with the clan symbols clearly visible.  At Michelle’s request, Scott gave her enlarged copies of the pictures that showed the blankets.  She then spent several months working with yarn and dyes trying to reproduce the exact stitching and colors used in the clan symbols.  Finally, she felt she was successful enough with four of the patterns
 to begin to sell them to local crafts stores.  Some of the purchasers of the blankets believed they were getting original Orenabele craftsmanship, even though neither Michelle nor the stores that sold her work ever made any such claim.  About two years after Michelle began selling blankets displaying the clan symbols, the Orenabele became aware of her work and asked her to stop using their symbols.  She refused.  
1998 Exam Q1 & Q2 on Next Page

1998 QUESTION 1:  Assuming that the animals line of cases we have read applies to this fact pattern, discuss whether the Orenabele have sufficient property rights in their clan symbols that they can stop Michelle from using them in her work.  Assume that no statutes or caselaw expressly govern the allocation of property rights in Tribal symbols.

1998 QUESTION 2:  Discuss whether the animals line of cases should apply to the allocation of property rights in Tribal symbols in situations similar to the one in this fact pattern.
1996 XQ1 & 2: FACT PATTERN 

Freeth Flying Ferns grow exclusively in the muddy islands in the delta of the Rawl River in the state of Nature.  Almost all of them grow on state-owned land in Delta State Park. These Ferns have an interesting life cycle.  During the early fall, when they are ready to reproduce, they grow brightly colored lightweight spore sacs.  When the spores inside are ready, the sacs fill with air, break off from the branches of the Ferns, and are carried by the wind to different islands in the delta.  The sacs break when they land, scattering spores on the muddy turf.  The spores lay dormant all winter, then grow into new clusters of Ferns the following year after the Spring floods subside.  After the Ferns release their spore sacs, they die rapidly, leaving  behind only a fat root underground.


Late in the last century, residents of the Rawl River valley discovered that the root of the Freeth Flying Fern has a unique rich woody flavor.  Fern-Root Soup became a popular (if expensive) item in chic restaurants located near the delta.  To meet the demand for Fern-Roots, a group of local residents have become “Root-Hunters.” The Root-Hunters harvest only during the early winter, when the roots are at peak flavor.  This timing also insures that the roots get taken only after the spore sacs have flown and the next generation of Ferns have been planted.  After harvesting the Fern-Roots, the Root-Hunters sell them to restaurants and food distributors.


Although the state of Nature allows anyone to harvest the Fern-Roots in Delta State Park, the roots are hard to find.  Because the fern spores fly with the winds, each year they appear in different places.   By early winter, when they are best for eating, the Fern stems are dead and often simply decay amid the other leaves and mud on the surface of the islands.  Moreover, the contours of the islands in the delta change with flooding and tides every year, so mapping is nearly impossible.


To deal with the difficulties of harvesting, the Root-Hunters have developed certain customs.  In the early fall, when the Ferns are easily recognizable by the brightly colored spore sacs, the Root-Hunters go out in small boats and plant flags on islands where they find Ferns.  The flags consist of a pennant painted with a sign unique to each Fern-Hunter attached to a flexible plastic staff.  On the bottom of each staff is a pointed metal tip that can be stuck in the mud easily.  Other Root-Hunters avoid islands that have flags already placed on them. 
1996 Fact Pattern Continues on Next Page


The Root-Hunters return in the early winter, search for islands containing their flags, and then dig up the roots on those islands.  Although custom allows Root-Hunters to search islands without flags for roots, they generally do not find it cost-effective to do so.  Because tropical storms and hurricanes are common in the delta in the fall, flags sometimes blow away.  Thus, on average, Root-Hunters only find about 2/3 of the flags they plant.


Christian and David are Root-Hunters.  In September, 1996, they each entered Delta State Park as usual and planted flags on a number of islands.  Later that month, researchers at Ryan State University discovered that the roots of the Freeth Flying Fern contain an enzyme that can be used to treat certain forms of cancer.  Eric, a graduate student working on this project, set off for Delta State Park to find more roots to use in further tests.  Island A, the first island he visited, contained a patch of Ferns with their spore sacs still attached.  In their midst was one of Christian’s flags.  Unaware of the significance of the flag, Eric took pictures of the site, then dug up the Ferns and took the roots.


In late October, Hurricane Monica ravaged Delta State Park.  When the Root-Hunters returned in early December, almost all their flags were gone.  To try to salvage some earnings from the season, many Root-Hunters spent days searching unmarked islands hoping to find Fern-Roots.  One day, while searching Island B, David found the bottom of a plastic flag-staff stuck in the ground.  All but 3 inches of the staff (including the pennant) had broken off and blown away.  David knew the staff wasn’t one of his, because it was dark blue, and he used yellow staffs.  David found a large clump of Fern-Roots in the ground around the broken flag-staff.


Subsequently, David told Christian what he had done on Island B.  Christian (correctly) informed David that he (Christian) was the only Fern-Hunter who used flags with dark blue staffs.  However, David refused to give Christian the value of the Fern-Roots from Island B.  Christian also read about the Ryan State University project in the newspaper.  The article included one of Eric’s pictures, which clearly showed one of Christian’s flags among the ferns that the article said Eric took.  Christian called Eric, and demanded payment for the Fern-Roots from Island A, but Eric refused.

1996 QUESTION 1 :  Assuming that the animals line of cases we have read applies to this fact pattern, discuss whether Christian is entitled to the value of the Fern-Roots from either Island A or Island B or both.

1996 QUESTION 2:  Discuss whether the animals line of cases should apply to this fact pattern.
1994 XQ1 & 2: FACT PATTERN


By early in the 22nd Century, many important metals needed for the Earth economy were no longer available on Earth.  Private entrepreneurs from Earth began mining mineral ores in the asteroid belt between Mars and Jupiter.  They set up low-gravity factories on Mars primarily staffed by robots to process the ores. They then sell the processed minerals to nations or businesses that were willing to pay top dollar for them.

  
To recover minerals from the asteroids, the miners needed first to ascertain whether a particular asteroid contained useful ores in sufficient quantity to be worth mining.  The miners then had to capture the asteroids and bring them back to Mars for processing.  Miners rapidly discovered that spaceships large enough to carry asteroids out of the belt to Mars were too bulky and difficult to maneuver effectively when doing preliminary investigation of the asteroids.  The big ships also had a tendency to knock into asteroids, sending them spinning rapidly to new locations.  On the other hand, little scout ships that could do analysis of an asteroid from several angles without knocking it out of orbit were too small to retrieve asteroids that proved to be mineral-rich.  And once scouts left the vicinity of an asteroid, they had difficulty identifying it again by sight or location in a way that would be useful to a retrieval vessel.


To deal with these problems, the miners developed the following customs.   The mining companies would send out the scout ships, which would analyze the asteroids by circling them and doing electronic and laser probing.  If an asteroid proved valuable, the scout would shoot onto the asteroid a radio transmitter that beamed out a signal identifiable to a mining company as its own. The transmitters were designed to continue signaling for about three weeks.  Later, the larger retrieval vessels would track their scouts’ finds via the radio signals and would pick up the valuable asteroids to return them to Mars.  By custom, scouts would not tamper with asteroids that already contained a transmitter sending out a signal that was not their own, and retrieval ships would only pick up asteroids transmitting their company’s signal.

1994 Fact Pattern Continues on Next Page


On December 4, a scout from Pierre Mining Ltd. found two very valuable asteroids located very close together.  One contained the important mineral Titanium (“Asteroid T”) and the other contained a large deposit of Uranium ore(“Asteroid U”), which was very rare in the belt.  The scout placed transmitters sending out Pierre Mining’s signal on both asteroids.  Unfortunately, unbeknownst to the Pierre scout, the transmitter on Asteroid T was defective and stopped transmitting almost at once.


On December 7, a scout from Doepel, Donaldson & Dunwoody, Inc. (DD&D) located Asteroids T and U and recognized their value.  Because of the signal emanating from Asteroid U, the scout left it alone.  However, unaware of the defective Pierre transmitter, she put a DD&D transmitter on Asteroid T.  The following day, a DD&D retrieval ship went to the site to bring back Asteroid T.  In the process of catching that Asteroid, the retrieval ship banged into Asteroid U, sending it spinning off into a different part of the belt.  


On December 15, a retrieval ship from Pierre went looking for the two asteroids, but could find neither in the sector of the belt where the Pierre scout had indicated they’d be located.  Assuming the scout had made some mistake, the retrieval ship returned empty-handed to Mars.  


In early January, after the Pierre transmitter on Asteroid U stopped working, the same DD&D scout that had found it earlier in the other sector located it again.  Thrilled at finding a large deposit of Uranium ore, the scout called for a retrieval ship at once, and made certain that DD&D took Asteroid U back to Mars immediately.  When DD&D processed Asteroids T and U, they found the transmitters that the Pierre scout had placed.

1994 QUESTION 1:  Assuming that the animals line of cases we have read applies to this fact pattern, discuss which company has better rights to each of the two asteroids.

1994 QUESTION 2:  Discuss whether the animals line of cases should apply to this fact pattern.
�  Wager recounts how clever Liamax the Lorikeet tricked boastful Jacrori, the Giant Rat, who was always bragging about how fast he was.  Liamax taunted Jacrori, saying that the Rat was slower than even Tim-Trey the Turtle, until Jacrori wagered his whole stash of seeds that he could beat Tim-Trey in “any race” that Liamax would name. The Lorikeet set the race in deep water, where the Turtle won easily while the Rat nearly drowned.  


�  Deal recounts how Curcochen the Coconut Crab escaped being eaten when trapped between two hungry birds, Klema the Kingfisher and Hik-Sohn the Hornbill.  Curcochen led the birds to strike a deal as to who would get to eat her, each bird contributing items until they ended up with roughly the same value.  By gently but continually suggesting that one bird or the other was getting cheated, Curcochen got the birds to keep changing the terms of the deal until she herself was left out of the final agreement.


� Webster’s Concise Encyclopedia.


� The Orenabele called the symbols in question Black Fox, Wise Bird, Noble Dancer, and White Yew.
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